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NATURE OF THE CASE 

Sidney Butler was convicted of aggravated criminal sexual assault, aggravated 

criminal sexual abuse and predatory criminal sexual assault after a jury trial 

and was sentenced to 21 years. 

This is a direct appeal from the judgment of the court below. No issue is 

raised challenging the charging instrument. 
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ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

In this case, the only evidence of sexual assault was adduced through K.P.'s 

out-of-court statements made during a victim sensitive interview (VSI) which 

the judge found reliable after a hearing, and assurances from the prosecutor that 

K.P. would be testifying, as required by 725 ILCS 5/115-10. However, when she 

took the stand, K.P. did not testify to any instances of sexual assault and did not 

remember discussing Sidney Butler or accusing him of sexual assault during the 

interview, rendering the out-of-court statements in violation of both 115-10 and 

the Confrontation Clause. Under these circumstances, should Sidney Butler's 

conviction be reversed? 

-2-
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STATUTES AND RULES INVOLVED 

725 ILCS 5/115-10 

(a) In a prosecution for a physical or sexual act perpetrated upon or against 

a child under the age of 13, .... the following evidence shall be admitted as an 

exception to the hearsay rule: 

(1) testimony by the victim of an out of court statement made by the victim 

that he or she complained of such act to another; and. 

(2) testimony of an out of court statement made by the victim describing 

any complaint of such act or matter or detail pertaining to any act which is an 

element of an offense which is the subject of a prosecution for a sexual or physical 

act against the victim. 

(b) Such testimony shall only be admitted if: 

(1) The court finds in a hearing conducted outside the presence of the jury 

that the time, content and circumstances of the statement provide sufficient 

safeguards of reliability; and 

(2) The child ... either: 

(A) testifies at the proceedings: or 

(B) is unavailable as a witness and there is corroborative evidence 

of the act which is the subject of the statement. 

-3-
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STATEMENT OF FACTS 

Sidney Butler was tried for numerous counts of sexual abuse and assault 

involving his half-sister, K.P., when Sidney was over 17 years old. (C. 38-42, 44) 

C. 4-1 O; 1073) K.P. was called to the witness stand and did not testify that Sidney 

committed any sexual offenses against her. (R. 572-73, 577-78) The sole evidence 

of Sidney's guilt consisted of out-of-court statements K.P. made prior to trial and 

did not recall when she was on the stand. (St. Ex. 1; R. 573-78, 599, 627) The jury 

found Sidney guilty on all counts. (CL 4-10; R. 768-69) After a post-trial motion, 

the trial judge had to vacate two of the counts because they were not supported 

by any evidence. (R. 980) After merging three counts, the court sentenced Sidney, 

on one count of predatory criminal sexual assault and two counts of aggravated 

criminal sexual assault, to consecutive terms of nine, nine and three years in prison. 

(C. 450; R. 1073) 

Pre-Trial Matters 

On November 5, 2014, K.P. was beaten by Roland Pierce, her biological 

father (although they do not share a last name). (R. 609, 614) K.P. was kept home 

from school and away from others after the beating. (C. 153) Pierce later gave 

a hand-written statement to police where he admitted to beating K.P. as punishment 

for, and to get her to admit to, committing a sexual act with another one of his 

daughters, K.P.'s half-sister, as reported to her mother. (R. 184, C. 151-53) K.P. was 

hospitalized for her injuries on November 8. (R. 117, 127) K.P. was interviewed 

at the Child Advocacy Center (CAC) several days after her hospitalization, on 

November 10. (R. 77, 525) 

Prior to trial, the court held a hearing to determine if the victim sensitive 

interview (VSI) conducted at the CAC was admissible under 725 ILCS 5/115-10. 

(R. 72 et seq.) Allison Alstott, forensic interviewer with the CAC, testified that 
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she interviewed K.P. on November 10, 2014 when K.P. was 9 years old. (R. 77) 

Alstott and K.P. were the only persons in the room, with Officer Ian Barclay 

observing from behind a one-way mirror. (R. 75-78) 

The VSI was entered into evidence at the hearing. During the interview, 

K.P. complained for the first time that Sidney Butler, as well as another brother 

and cousin had sexually assaulted her periodically since she was four years old. 

(St. Ex. 1; R. 196) 

Defense counsel argued that K.P.'s statement, which was a product of her 

father's horrible beating, was so unreliable as to be inadmissible. (R. 195-97) The 

trial court disagreed, and held that the VSI was admissible. (R. 200-01) 

State's Case 

The prosecution called K.P. to the stand. (R. 515) She refused to answer 

any questions. (R. 516) The State to proceeded with other witnesses. (R. 519) 

Detective Barclay testified that he became involved in this case on November 

10, 2014 when he met with K.P.'s family at the CAC before the interview. (R. 

524-526) He and Department of Children and Family Services (DCFS) employee 

Cynthia Pettis observed the interview, which was conducted by Alison Alstott, 

through a one-way mirror. (R. 528-290) After the interview, Sidney became a suspect. 

(R. 530, 541) 

Six months later, on May 6, 2015, Barclay interrogated Sidney about these 

charges. (R. 535) Detective Brown and Assistant States Attorney (ASA) Rob Foss 

were present for the interrogation. (R. 535) Sidney told them that K.P. was his 

sister and he used to babysit for her. (R. 535) Sidney did not make any incriminating 

statements. (R. 535-36) 

The State called K.P. to the witness stand a second time. (R. 550) At the 

time of her testimony, she was 13 years old. (R. 551) At first she remained silent, 
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and answered many of the preliminary questions with nods of the head. (R. 550-58) 

The judge had the jury leave the courtroom, the parties discussed misbehavior 

from the gallery, and the judge expressed concern that K.P. was not speaking 

on the stand. (R. 560-62) Before the jury was called back to the courtroom, the 

judge admonished the gallery about outbursts and nods and instructed K.P. that 

she had to use her words. (R. 564) 

Back on the stand, K.P. then answered some preliminary questions. She 

remembered that when she was nine years old, she was living at 932 Latrobe 

Ave. with her mother and father, brothers, and sister. (R. 573) Sometime that 

year, they moved to 911 Latrobe. (R. 570) K.P. identified Sidney Butler as her 

brother and said he lived with her family until he was grown. (R. 555-58, 572-73) 

K.P. did not say that Sidney did anything to her: 

Q Okay. Did Sidney do anything to you? 

A No, I don't remember. 

Q Okay. And at 911 Latrobe, did Sidney do 

anything to you? 

A 

(R. 572) 

No, I don't remember. 

K.P. remembered, and was able to answer questions from both parties about, 

what her father Roland Pierce did to her. She described the beating at the hands 

of her father. She said that when she was nine, her father beat her up with a belt, 

an extension cord, a video game, and his Timberland boots. He also spit on her 

and accused her of doing something to her little cousins. (R 576, 588-590) She 

had welts and sustained other injuries on her arms and legs. (R. 590) After the 

beating, her father made her sleep on the basement floor for two nights without 

a blanket, and kept her home from school for two days. (R. 590-92) 

-6-
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Three days after the beating, K.P.'s cousin Asia Purnell took her to the 

hospital because K.P. was having trouble walking. (R. 593) Her mother and father 

were arrested. (R. 593) K.P. identified photos of her injuries from that day. 

(R. 594-95, Def. Ex. Group 1) 

The prosecutor then asked questions about the VSI. At first, K.P. did not 

remember being interviewed by a lady in a building. (R. 573) When shown a still 

photo of herself and the interviewer, K.P. remembered that she was interviewed 

by a lady after her hospital visit, but she did not remember what they discussed. 

(R. 5 7 5) She was still suffering pain from her injuries during the interview. (R. 596) 

She remembered bringing up Sidney Butler's name. She did not remember accusing 

him or anyone else of touching her: 

Q Okay. In this interview did you mention that 

A 

(R. 577-78) 

your brother, Sidney, was one of the individuals who had 

been touching on you? Do you remember that? 

No. 

The prosecutor then posed a series of questions to K.P. about specific 

accusations she made during the interview about instances of sexual assault 

committed by Sidney; in response to each, she did not remember any questions 

or answers during the interview. (R. 579-85) Below is a typical example: 

Q Do you remember getting this question and giving this answer: 

A 

(R. 578) 

['1Tell me about the last time he did something to you. 

Answer. 2013. That was the last time because he moved out. f'] 

Do you remember giving that answer to that question? 

No. 

-7-
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K.P. also testified that she did not remember being sexually assaulted at 

all. (R. 586-87) And throughout questioning, K.P. did not verbally respond to 

numerous questions. (R. 570, 571, 573, 574, 576, 577, 578, 587, 588, 591, 592) 

The State moved to play the VSI for the jury. (R. 598) Defense counsel objected 

to the publication of the recording. (R. 599) Counsel argued that because K.P. had 

not made any accusations against Sidney, did not remember making any accusations 

during the interview, and did not remember Sidney committing any of these offenses, 

she did not testify as required by Section 115-10. (R. 599) The court overruled 

defense counsel's objection and published the video. (R. 599, 627) 

The VSI shows K.P. telling Alstott that a few days prior to the interview, 

her father hit her with his belt, hands, and Timberland boots, and an orange 

extension cord. (St. Ex. 1, 6:40-9:19) He then made her go to the basement and 

sleep there for a few days. (St. Ex. 1, 9:20) She said that this was punishment 

for her admission that she "touched on" her little sisters and her brothers "touched 

on" her. (St. Ex. 1, 9:49-10:32) K.P. then said that her cousin, her brothers and 

her mother's friends and their sons had touched her. (St. Ex. 1, 10:52-11:31) 

First she said that her brother would make her suck his private part and 

put it in her butt when their parents left the house. This happened from the time 

she was four or five years old and the last time was a few weeks before the VSI. 

(St. Ex.1, 13:15-14:10; 15:21-17:33, 19:32, 34:47-37:09) Hercousinmadehersuck 

his private and put it in her butt - twice when she was four and once when she 

was five years old. (St. Ex. 1, 22:56-27:12) K.P. never told anyone about these 

instances because the boys all told her not to tell. (St. Ex. 1, 18:24, 26:19) Her 

mother's friend, Tyreek, slapped her butt one time when she was in the kitchen. 

(St. Ex. 1, 27:31-27:48) 

-8-
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She then said that Sidney Butler made her suck his private part and put 

his private part in the line, but not the hole, of her butt about five times when 

she was four and five years old in their old house and 932 Latrobe. (St. Ex. 1, 

28:50-32:41) The last time this happened was in 2013 before Sidney moved out. 

(St. Ex. 1, 29:05) 

K.P. explained the difference between the truth and a lie. (St. Ex. 1, 

37:35-37:49) K.P. then again discussed how her father had beaten her a few days 

prior and how he beat her, her mother and his younger girls repeatedly. (St. Ex. 1, 

38:31-40:49) K.P. was injured and examining her wounds inflicted by her father 

throughout the interview. (R. 665) 

Defense Case 

Defense counsel called T.P., K.P.'s and Sidney's mother to the stand. 

(R. 602-03) She testified that she never noticed any evidence of sexual abuse on 

either of her daughters' bodies. (R. 603) She would take them for physicals and 

their doctor never told her that her girls were sexually abused. (R. 604) 

She lived at 932 Latrobe for a few years before moving to 911. (R. 603,616) 

K.P.'s father Roland lived with her and the children at 911. (R. 616) Sidney lived 

at 932 for a time, but never lived at 911 Latrobe. (R. 616-17) K.P.'s father called 

her from his work on a Friday in November of 2014. (R. 605) She picked her children 

up from school and went home as he had instructed. (R. 607) Once home, K.P.'s 

father called her, K.P., and the other children into the kitchen. (R. 608) He went 

crazy and beat them all because something sexual was going on between K.P. and 

his other kids. (R. 608, 618) He used his belt and an extension cord. (R. 609) K.P. had 

lash injuries on her torso and legs. (R. 609) K.P.'s mother called the police. (R. 621) 

DCFS also arrived later and Asia Purnell picked up both girls and took K.P. to 

the hospital. (R. 610, 611-12) 

-9-



SUBMITTED - 31683887  Kate W olke - 3/13/2025 12:35 PM

130988

Verdict 

The defense rested and the jury returned guilty verdicts on all seven counts. 

(R. 767-70, Imp. CLR. 4-10) After the verdicts were delivered, defense counsel 

filed a post-trial motion, and Sidney alleged that trial counsel was ineffective. 

(C. 205, Supp. R. 2-3) The judge conducted a brief Krankel inquiry, and determined 

that counsel was not ineffective and would not appoint new counsel. (Supp. R. 11) 

Post Trial proceedings 

Sidney at first opted to represent himself, but six months later, new counsel 

was appointed. (Supp. R. 11-19, 785-833) In his post-trial motion, counsel argued, 

inter alia, that the VSI should not have been admitted pursuant to 115-10 where 

the proper foundational requirements were not met. (C. 355, 359-62, 369; R. 935) 

Citing In re Rolandis G., 232 Ill. 2d 13, 25 (2008) post-trial counsel argued that 

post-Crawford v. Washington, the standard in Illinois for testifying at a trial 

involving a minor victim in a sex offense case requires that the complainant take 

the stand, testify and be subject to cross-examination. (C. 359-60; R. 935) The 

judge denied the post-trial motion with the exception of one issue. (R. 972-79) 

The court vacated two of Sidney's convictions - one for predatory criminal sexual 

assault (PCSA) and one aggravated criminal sexual assault (ACSA) - finding that 

the State did not prove penis to anal penetration for those counts, leaving five 

convictions. (R. 980) 

Sentencing 

A hearing was held at which the State presented no evidence in aggravation 

and the defense called Sidney's grandmother in mitigation. (R.1036-37, 1040-54) 

After arguments in aggravation and mitigation, the judge merged the three 

counts of aggravated sexual abuse (ACSAb) and imposed the following sentences: 

nine years for (Count I) PCSA, nine years for (Count III) ACSA and three years 

-10-
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for (Counts V, VII, IX) ACSAb. These sentences were imposed consecutively for 

an aggregate sentence of 21 years with credit for 2280 days and a three years 

to life MSR term. (R. 1069, 1073-76) 

On direct appeal, Sidney argued, inter alia, that the VSI interview should 

not have been admitted under the confrontation clause and pursuant to 115-10 

because KP. was not available for cross-examination when she made no accusations 

against Sidney from the stand and there was no other evidence corroborating the 

allegations made by Sidney during the interview. The appellate court affirmed 

Butler's convictions holding that K.P.'s testimony satisfied section 115-10 so as 

to render her out-of-court interview admissible and, contrary to Sidney's argument, 

she was available for cross-examination. People v. Butler, 2024 IL App (1st) 

211175-U, ,r,r 39-42. This Court granted leave to appeal on November 27, 2024. 

-11-
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ARGUMENT 

K.P.'s Victim Sensitive Interview (VSI) Should Not Have Been 
Admitted at Sidney's Trial Where K.P. Did not Testify to Any 
Incidents of Sexual Assault and Did Not Remember Discussing 
Sidney Butler or any Sexual Assault During the VSI. 

The State's only evidence that Sidney Butler sexually assaulted K.P. came 

from her out-of-court statements at the Child Advocacy Center (CAC). During 

the victim sensitive interview (VSI) K.P. made allegations that Sidney and another 

brother had sexually assaulted her. However, on the stand, she first refused to 

answer any questions. Then, after a short break, she made no accusations against 

Sidney, did not say that she was sexually assaulted, and could not remember 

accusing Sidney of anything during the VSI. Under these circumstances, she was 

not available for cross-examination pursuant to the confrontation clause, and 

therefore, did not "testify'' pursuant to 725 ILCS 115-10, rendering her out-of-court 

statement inadmissible. Therefore, Sidney Butler's conviction should be reversed 

outright, or reversed and remanded for a new trial. 

This case involves both constitutional and evidentiary principles. A trial 

court's rulings on evidentiary matters will not be reversed absent a clear abuse 

of discretion. In re E.H., 224 Ill. 2d 172, 179 (2006). But, whether a defendant's 

constitutional right to confrontation has been violated is a legal issue subject to 

de novo review. People v. Barner, 2015 IL 116949, 39. Interpreting a statute is 

also a question oflaw subject to de novo review. People v. Cosenza, 215 Ill. 2d 308, 

314 (2005). Additionally, a violation of the Confrontation Clause is subject to a 

harmless-error review. People v. Stechly, 225 Ill. 2d 246, 304 (2007). "The test 

is whether it appears beyond a reasonable doubt that the error at issue did not 

contribute to the verdict obtained." Id. 

-12-
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The admissibility ofK.P.'s out-of-court statements is dependent on whether 

they satisfy both evidentiary and constitutional requirements. In re E.H., 224 

Ill. 2d at 1 79-80. The first step is determining whether the statement is admissible 

as an evidentiary matter. Id. at 179. Only after a reviewing court determines a 

statement is admissible as an evidentiary matter should the court consider 

constitutional claims. Id. at 179-80. However, even under this rubric, there is 

a great deal of overlap between the analysis of alleged error under Section 115-10 

and under the Confrontation Clause. Moreover, the issue under both standards 

is whether the witness was available. 

K.P.'s interview was introduced pursuant to 725 ILCS 5/115-10, a statutory 

exception to the hearsay rule which allows for the introduction of out-of-court 

statements made by sexual assault victims as substantive evidence when certain 

requirements are met. The statement is admitted when it describes an element 

of the charged sexual or physical assault if it is found to be reliable and the child 

either "(A) testifies at the proceedings; or (B) is unavailable as a witness and there 

is corroborative evidence of the ... statement." This Court has defined "testifies" 

as set forth in section 115-10 as "whether the State, through the victims' direct 

testimony, proved" the offenses." People v. Kitch, 239 Ill. 2d 452, 463-65 (2011). 

Moreover, every criminal defendant has the constitutional right to confront 

his or her accusers' testimony. U.S. Const. Amends. VI, XIV; Ill. Const. Art. I, 

§8. Indeed, this right is a ''bedrock procedural guarantee [that] applies to both 

Federal and State prosecutions," and is directed at the use of ex parte examinations 

as evidence in criminal trials. Crawford v. Washington, 541 U.S. 36, 42, 50 (2004). 

In other words, when the protections of the Confrontation Clause apply, 

unavailability and a prior opportunity to cross-examine the witness are, together, 
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the only constitutionally allowed exception to an in-court confrontation. Crawford, 

541 U.S. at 54. Just as with section 115-10, for purposes of the admission of an 

out-of-court statement under the confrontation clause, availability means more 

that just appearing in court. Crawford, 541 U.S. at 54: In re Rolandis G., 232 Ill. 2d 

13, 18, 22 (2008) (complainant who took the stand but who offered no inculpatory 

testimony was not "available to testify" under Confrontation Clause); In re Brandon 

P. 2014 IL 116653, ,r,r (in this context, "unavailable" is not synonymous with 

"missing'' or failing to appear in court); Kitch, 239 Ill. 2d at 464 (concluding that 

complainants' "direct testimony provided enough detail to allow for 

cross-examination within the meaning of the confrontation clause"). 

Moreover, it is of no import that this case involved a 13-year-old witness 

who refused to testify to any accusations against Sidney. As this Court explained 

in Rolandis G., confrontation clause protections cannot be watered down for certain 

cases: while the court expressed sympathy for "the State's concern that child abuse 

victims are often unavailable to testify because of their tender years and, for that 

reason, 'Crawford is incompatible with the realities of child abuse prosecutions[,]"' 

the Court explained that "we may not abridge constitutional guarantees simply 

because they are a hindrance to the prosecution of child sexual abuse crimes." 

232111.2d at 36, citing Davis v. Washington, 54 7 U.S. 813, 832-33 (2006). Because 

K.P.did not accuse Sidney of anything, she was not available for cross-examination, 

and her testimony did not meet the requirements of Section 115-10. Therefore, 

her prior statements should not have been admitted. 

Here, the prosecutor was under the impression that K.P. was going to testify 

about incidents of sexual abuse and assault, as indicated in his opening statement 

where he told the jury that "[K.P.] is going to get up on that witness stand today 

and testify with regards to this incident and the defendant, Sidney Butler." (R. 508) 
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However, when she took the stand, K.P. did not testify about the incident and could 

not remember making any accusations in the VSI. Therefore, she was functionally 

unavailable for cross-examination, and unavailable under section 115-10. 

When the prosecutor first called K.P. to the stand, she refused to answer 

any questions. (R. 516) After several other witnesses were called, she was recalled. 

(R. 550) At first she only answered questions by nodding. (R. 550-58) After being 

admonished to use her words, K.P. was more verbal. However, she still provided 

non-verbal responses throughout questioning and she made no accusations against 

Sydney from the stand. (R. 570-71, 573-74 574, 576-78, 587-88, 591-92) She did 

not remember the interview until prompted by a still photo from the interview 

room. (R. 5 73-7 5) Even then, she did not remember accusing Sidney during the 

interview and she did not say she was sexually assaulted. (R. 550-58) To the extent 

she provided any testimony about a crime, it concerned the beating by her father. 

(R. R 576, 588-592) 

Because K.P. had no memory of being assaulted or making accusations 

during the interview, defense counsel was unable to cross-examine her about her 

accusations. Therefore, the only thing counsel could do was question her about 

her only substantive testimony - the beating by her father - or not question her 

at all. After counsel's objection to the publication of the interview based on K.P.'s 

unavailability was overruled, counsel opted for the former. However, this has 

no impact in the question of K.P.'s availability. 

On that issue, the confrontation clause bars admission of testimonial 

out-of-court statements, unless "the declarant is present at trial to defend or explain 

it." Crawford, 541 U.S. at 59 n.9. (emphasis added). This requirement that the 

witness be "available" confirms that "[c]onfrontation means more than being allowed 
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to confront the witness physically." Davis v. Alaska, 415 U.S. 308, 315 (1974). 

Cross-examination ensures that a witness confronted with a prior inconsistent 

statement must "affirm, deny, or qualify the truth of the prior statement under 

the penalty of perjury," which allows the fact finder to determine "which, if either, 

of the statements represents the truth." Green, 399U.S. at 158-59; see also Kentucky 

v. Stincer, 482 U.S. 730, 737 (1987) (''The right to cross-examination ... is essentially 

a 'functional' right designed to promote reliability in the truth-finding functions 

of a criminal trial."). 

This case is similar to In re Brandon P., 2014 IL 116653, a case not 

acknowledged by the appellate court when it affirmed Sidney's conviction. In that 

case, M.J., the child-complainant, took the stand and answered a series of 

preliminary questions, but did not remember anything about the incident or about 

talking to the police. As explained by the appellate court, although defense counsel 

was afforded the opportunity to cross-examine M.J., he declined to do so. In re 

Brandon P., 2013 IL App (4th) 111022, ,r 22. The State then introduced the 

complainant's out-of-court statements to the police. The trial court agreed that 

the witness was unavailable despite having appeared at trial and taken the witness 

stand, but deemed her statements to be non-testimonial, and therefore, admissible. 

2013 ILApp (4th) 111022, ,r 27. The appellate court disagreed that the witness's 

statements were not testimonial, but found her available simply because she took 

the witness stand. 2013 IL App (4th) 111022,,r 46. 

This Court accepted the State's concession that M.J.'s prior statements 

were testimonial, and rejected the appellate court's holding that M.J. was available. 

2014 IL 116653, at ,r,r 47-48. Indeed, this Court explained that the issue of 
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availability was not even close: "There is no question, based upon the record in 

this case, that M.J. was unavailable to testify at respondent's trial based upon 

both her youth and fear." Id. at ,r 4 7 ( emphasis added). See also, People v. Yarbrough, 

166 Ill. App. 3d 825, 831 (5th Dist. 1988) (witness was unavailable when he testified 

that he did not remember his prior testimony in front of the grand jury, as the 

absence of memory precluded any cross-examination with respect to the truth 

or falsity of the out-of-court statements). 

Brandon P. was correctly decided and controls this case. Whether a witness 

is available for cross examination on prior statements is dependent on whether 

their truth can be tested. As recognized by Crawford, adversarial witnesses might 

be those who actually testify at trial, those whose statements are offered at trial, 

or something in-between. 541 U.S. at 42-43. The United State's Supreme Court 

turned to the historical background of the clause to determine the question of 

availability. Id. 

The animating motivation behind the confrontation clause was the injustice 

of the trial of Sir Walter Raleigh for treason. Id. at 43-45, 50-53, 62. During that 

trial, the jury was read the accusations Lord Cobham made outside of the tribunal. 

Id. at 44. Cobham did not appear at Raleigh's trial and Raleigh demanded that 

he be called to testify in court so that Raleigh had the chance to confront him. 

Id. The judges denied this request, the statements were read to the jury, and Raleigh 

was convicted. Id. Crawford held that this kind of injustice was exactly what the 

confrontation clause was designed to prevent: "the principal evil at which the 

Confrontation Clause was directed was the civil-law mode of criminal procedure, 

and particularly its use of ex parte examinations as evidence against the accused .... 

The Sixth Amendment must be interpreted with this focus in mind." Id. at 50. 
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An interpretation of the confrontation clause that would allow the admission 

of Lord Cobham's out-of-court accusations, so long as Cobham took the witness 

stand and claimed no memory of making the prior accusations, would have been 

of no help to the defense: Raleigh could not hope to "expose his accusation as a 

lie" if Cobham could not recall making it, nor could Cobham "recant" something 

he did not remember saying. Crawford, 541 U.S. at 44,62. Requiring that an accuser 

be able to be cross-examined concerning the content of the prior statement - that 

the accuser appear at trial "to defend or explain" the prior statement, Id. at 59, 

n.9 - is the only thing that would have helped Raleigh, and is the only rule consistent 

with the fact that "[c]onfrontation means more than being allowed to confront 

the witness physically." Davis v. Alaska, 415 U.S. 308, 315 (197 4). As Blackstone 

explained, the reason the witness must appear and answer questions about a prior 

accusation is to ensure the witness is "at liberty to correct and explain his meaning, 

if misunderstood, which he can never do after a written deposition is once taken." 

3 William Blackstone, Commentaries on the Laws of England *373-74 (1768). 

The recently-decided case, Smith v. Arizona confirms the importance of 

the truth-testing purpose of the confrontation clause. 602 U.S. 779 (2024). The 

Smith Court addressed the application of the Confrontation Clause asinterpreted 

by Crawford, to out-of-court statements supporting an expert opinion. In holding that 

those statements, offered for their truth, are inadmissible, the Court underscored 

the importance of cross-examination as a test of the reliability of critical prosecution 

evidence and found that cross-examination of the witness testifying to those 

statements could not significantly test the original tester's statements. Id. at 1800. 

In so determining the Smith Court relied upon the reasoning of Melendez-Diaz 

v. Massachusetts, 557U.S. 305 (2009) andBullcomingv. New Mexico, 564 U.S. 647, 

651-52 (2011), which upheld the importance of the confrontation clause and 

restricted the State's attempts to circumvent it. Smith, 602 U.S. at 783-87. The 
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Court ultimately held that Arizona could not avoid the confrontation clause by 

having one expert testify based on a non-testifying expert's conclusions where 

the truth of the statements "propped up its whole case," but the maker of those 

statements was not available for cross-examination. Id. at 797-99. 

This case does not involve forensic evidence. However, like Crawford's 

explanation of the motivating Walter Raleigh case, Smith's focus is on the 

truth-testing purpose of cross-examination. This principle is critical in this case, 

where the only evidence the State relied on to prove K.P.'s guilt was her out-of-court 

statements. As in Crawford and Smith, in this case, Sidney was denied the 

opportunity to test the truth ofK.P.'s out-of-court statements. Although counsel 

asked K.P. questions on cross-examination, which she answered, he was hampered 

where he could not ask questions about statements she said she could not remember, 

based on an alleged assault that she did not say happened from the stand. K.P. was 

unavailable under the confrontation clause and section 115-10. 

Again, this Court resolved this issue in Brandon P. However, without even 

addressing Brandon P., the court below held that although K.P. was reluctant 

to answer the prosecutor's questions, she displayed no such reluctance on 

cross-examination where she answered defense counsel's questions about being 

beaten by her father, and that defense counsel was free to question her about her 

statements during the VSI, despite her failure to discuss them and her refusal 

to say that she had been sexually assaulted. People v. Butler, 2024 IL App (1st) 

211175-U, at -,r41. However, this is not a viable defense strategy and the defense 

never has the burden of eliciting inculpatory evidence. Indeed, the child-witness's 

failure to make any accusatory statements and the prosecution's failure to 

adequately draw out testimony from the child witness before admitting the child's 

hearsay puts the defendant in "a constitutionally impermissible Catch-22" of calling 
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the child for direct, eliciting inculpatory evidence on cross, or waiving his 

confrontation rights. Lowery v. Collins, 996 F.2d 770, 771-72 (5th Cir.1993); State 

v. Rohrich, 132 Wash. 2d 4 72, 4 78 (Wash. 1997) (to safeguard right of confrontation, 

complainant must take the stand and describe the acts alleged in the otherwise 

inadmissible hearsay). 

Sidney acknowledges the appellate court cases that hold that a witness's 

appearance on the stand or willingness to answer some questions satisfies the 

availability requirement, even if the witness suffers from memory failure. People 

v. Bryant, 391 Ill. App. 3d 1072 (4th Dist. 2009); People v. Riggs, 2019 IL App 

(2d) 160991; People v. Graves, 2021 IL App (5th) 200104; People v. Smith, 2019 

IL App (3d) 160631, ,r 31; People v. Garcia-Cordoba, 2011 IL App (2d) 070550-B, 

,r 66; People v. Dabney, 2017 IL App (3d) 140915; People v. Kennebrew, 2014 IL 

App (2d) 121169; People v. Lara, 2011 IL App ( 4th) 080983-B; People v. Major-Flisk, 

398 Ill. App. 3d 491 (2010). 

As noted above, however, prior testimonial statements are not admissible 

unless the witness is available to defend or explain them. Davis v. Alaska, 415 

U.S. 308,315 (1974). Thus, in United States v. Owens, 484 U.S. 554, 559-60 (1988), 

the United States Supreme Court determined that the confrontation clause was 

satisfied because, while the witness could not remember the offense itself, the 

witness was able to remember making the out-of-court statement identifying the 

defendant in a police interview two weeks after the offense. See also Graves; 2021 

IL App (5th) 200104, ,r 40 (child-victim did not testify to the charged crime, but 

swore to the truth of her out-of-court statements). Smith, 2019 IL App (3d) 160631, 

,r,r 8, 11 (child-victim could not remember the instances of sexual assault, but 

acknowledged discussing them with the CAC interview). In this case, not only did 

K.P. make no accusations from the stand, she could not remember or vouch for the 

truth of her out-of-court statements. (R. 5 72-73, 5 77-78) And, as this Court held in 
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Brandon P., simply answering questions with no bearing on the offense does not 

make a witness available. 2014IL 116653, ,r 47. Finally, theportionoftheholdingin 

Owens regarding the Confrontation Clause's application to out-of-court statements 

was overruled by Crawford, 541 U.S. at 50 (rejecting the notion that the 

Confrontation Clause only applies to in-court testimony because leaving the 

regulation of out-of-court statements to the law of evidence would render the 

Confrontation Clause powerless to prevent even the most flagrant inquisitorial 

practices). 

Again, this issue was resolved in Brandon P. 2014 IL 116653, ,r 47. Yet, 

of the several cases cited above issued after BrandonP., only a single one discusses 

this Court's opinion. That case, Kennebrew, distinguished Brandon P. because 

the complainant there testified in court both about the offense itself and about 

statements she made out of court concerning the offense. Kennebrew, 2014 IL App 

(2d) 121169, ,r n.5. No such distinction can be made here, where K.P. provided 

no accusatory testimony and was not able to remember any prior accusations made 

out of court. 

In addition to ignoring, or not having the benefit of, Brandon P., many of 

the cases listed above are distinguishable from this case on grounds similar to 

Kennebrew. For instance, in almost all of those cases, the witness accused the 

defendant of the offense, affirmed at least some of the accusations made in the 

out-of-court statements, remembered making their out-of-court accusations, and/or 

other evidence supported the State's case. In those cases, there were no evidentiary 

or confrontation clause violations, or they were harmless. Bryant, 391 Ill. App. 3d 

at 1079-83 (child-victim accused defendant of some sexual conduct and answered 

defense counsel's questions); Riggs, 2019 IL App (2d) 160991 (child-victim made 
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accusations against defendant which were corroborated by his confession); Dabney, 

2017 IL App (3d) 140915 (child-victim accused defendant of some, but not all, 

incidents contained in the charged counts); Lara, 2011 IL App (4th) 080983-B, 

,r,r 23-24, 4 7-48 (same); Major-Flisk, 398 Ill. App. 3d at 502-03, 506-07 (child-victim 

made accusations, albeit without much detail, and the issue of whether the witness 

was available to testify was not raised at trial); Garcia-Cordoba, 2011 IL App 

(2d) 070550-B, ,r 66 (child-witness had memory loss, but defendant made an 

admission); Graves, 2021 IL App (5th) 200104, ,r ,r 17-18, 22-23, 25-25 (child­

witness's failure to accuse defendant from the stand was nearly fatal until the 

State reopened its case and elicited accusatory testimony from her). Again, in 

this case, K.P. neither accused Sidney from the stand, nor did she remember what 

she said during the VSI. In light of the importance of the truth-testing purpose 

of the confrontation clause as discussed in Smith v. Arizona, 602 U.S. at 797-99, 

any cases, like the instant case, determining that the witnesses testified and were 

available for cross-examination despite failing to even make vague accusations from 

the stand or acknowledge their own out-of-court statements were wrongly decided. 

Cases outside our jurisdiction with similar hearsay exception statutes 

illustrate the importance of the ability to conduct an effective cross-examination 

to the question of whether a witness is available to testify. State v. Rorich, 132 

Wash.2d 4 72 (1997). In Rorich, the defendant was charged with sex crimes against 

a child-victim. The nine-year-old H.H. was found competent to testify, but when 

called to the stand, she did not testify about the allegations and was 

not-cross-examined. The prosecution introduced her hearsay statements under 

a statute which mirrors the Illinois statute. R.C.A. 9A.44.120. In reversing 

defendant's conviction, the Rorich court held that those statements were 
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inadmissible because the Confrontation Clause requires the term "testifies," as used 

in the child hearsay statute, to mean the child gives live testimony describing the 

acts of sexual contact to be offered as hearsay, and H.H.'s testimony did not meet 

these requirements.132 Wash.2d at 481-82. See also Goforth v. State, 70 So. 3d 

17 4, 186-87 (Miss. 2011) (no "constitutionally adequate opportunity to cross-examine'' 

where witness recognized his signature at the bottom of the statement, but could 

only "guess" that the statement itself had been written by him due to a total loss 

of memory); People v. Morgain, 177 Cal. App. 4th 454, 463066 (Cal. Ct. App. 2009) 

("A defendant's confrontation rights may be violated where a prosecutor examines 

a recalcitrant witness and poses questions that relate to prior statements made 

by that witness, in circumstances where the witness's recalcitrance effectively 

prevents cross-examination concerning those prior statements."). 

Finally, the improper admission of K.P.'s out-of-court statements was 

extremely prejudicial. First, because K.P. was functionally unavailable, her 

out-of-court statements were not admissible under 115-10(b)(2)(b) where there 

was no corroborative evidence of the acts that are the subject of the statements. 

Here, the State's case rested entirely upon the K.P.'s statements in the interview 

without the requisite corroborating evidence. Under these circumstances, the VSI 

was not admissible under 115-10(b)(2)(B). People v. Learn, 396 Ill. App. 3d 891, 

900 (2d Dist. 2009) ("If the child is the only witness (other than hearsay reporters) 

who can accuse the defendant of actions constituting the charged offense, the child 

must testify."). 

For this same reason, the erroneous admission of K.P.'s hearsay 

statements was not harmless. The admission of legally inadmissible hearsay 

statements may be considered harmless only where there is no reasonable probability 
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that the trier of fact would have acquitted the defendant absent the error. In re 

E.H., 377 Ill. App. 3d 406, 415-16 (1st Dist. 2007). Moreover where an error is 

of constitutional dimension, the State has the burden to prove that it was harmless 

beyond a reasonable doubt. People v. Stechly, 225111.2d 246, 304 (2007). The State 

cannot meet that burden. Aside from K.P.'s out-of-court statements, there was 

no other evidence to convict Sidney. Thus, the erroneous admission of these hearsay 

statements was not harmless under any standard. 

In this case, K.P.'s out-of-court statement should not have been admitted 

at Sidney Butler's jury trial where K.P. was not available for cross-examination 

as required by the confrontation clause, rendering her functionally unavailable 

to testify under 115-10. Aside from K.P.'s out-of-court statements, there was no 

other evidence to convict Sidney. Thus, the admission of the statements could not 

be harmless. Therefore, this Court should reverse Sidney Butler's 

convictions outright. See People v. Hagestedt, 2025 IL 130286, -,r 48. In the 

alternative, this Court should reverse Sidney Butler's convictions and remand 

this cause for a new trial. 
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CONCLUSION 

For the foregoing reasons, Sidney Butler, Petitioner-Appellant, respectfully 

requests that this Court reverse Sidney's convictions outright, or reverse his 

convictions and remand this cause for a new trial. 

Respectfully submitted, 

CATHERINE K. HART 
Deputy Defender 
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Sentence to Dlinois Department of Corrections 

IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS 
COUNTY DEPARTMENT, CRIMINAL DIVISION 

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF ILLINOIS 

I v. 
15CR0915401 
09/25/1995 

CCGNJOS 

SIDNEY BUTLER 

Case Number 
Date of Birth 
Date of Arrest 
IR Number 2232628 SID Number 021474771 -=~~;;...__ __ _ 

Defendant 

ORDER OF COMMITMENT AND SENTENCE TO 
IIJ,JNOIS DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS 

The above named defendant having been adjudged guilty of the offense(s) enumerated below is hereby sentenced 
i to the Illinois Department of Corrections as follows: I Count Statutory Offense Years Months Oass Consecutive Concurrent 
! I Citation 
1 

0011 720-5/11- PRED CRIM SEX ASLT/VICTIM 9 X X 
; 

' 1.40(A)(1) <13 

003 

009 

720-5/12-14(8)(1) AGG CRIM SEX ASLT/VICTIM 

<9 

720-5/12-_ 
16(c)(2)( ) 

AGG CRIM SEX ABUSE/VICTIM 
<9 

On Count ___ defendant having been convicted of a class 
pursuant to 730 ILCS 5/5-4.5-95(b ). 

9 X X 

3 2 X 

offense is sentenced as a class ---

On Count defendant is sentenced to an extended term pursuant to 730 ILCS 5/5-8-2. ---

offender 

The Court finds that the defendant is entitled to receive credit for time actually served in custody for a total credit of -----
3 to 

years and . 2280 days, as of the date of this order. Defendant is ordered to serve Life years Mandatory Supervised Release. - ---
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the above sentence(s) be concurrent with the sentence imposed in case numbers(s) 

AND: consecutive to the sentence imposed under case number(s) 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED THAT Count 5 and 7 merge into count 9 I Counts 1, 3 and 9 Consecutive to each other/ Mitt To 
Issue i Bond Revoked __ 

IT IS FURTIIBR ORDERED that the Clerk provide the Sheriff of Cook Co • ha copy of this Order and that the Sheriff take the defendant into custody 
and deliver him/her to the Illinois Department of Corrections and that the Departmen ake hi her int stody and c0nfine hi m/her in a manner provided by law until the 
above sentence is fulfilled. 

Dated September 13, 2021 
Certified by: 

Deputy Clerk C. Crenshaw 

Verified by: 

IRIS 

ENTERED 
9/13/2021 

Iris Y Martinez 
Clerk of the Circuit Court 

of Cook County, ll 

DEPUTY cuRK C. Crenshaw 
CIRCUIT COURT OF COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS 

Page 1 of 1 

A-7 

2113 
Judge's No. 

Printod: 9/13/2021 2:28 PM 
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TO THE APPELLATE COURT OF'ILLINOIS 
IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF COOK COUNTY 

CRIMINAL DMSION 

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF ILLINOIS ) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

No. • 15CR0915401 
Trial Judge: ALFREDO MALDONADO 

-vs-

' 
:SIDNEY BUTLER 

. NOTICE OF APPEAL 

An Appeal is taken from the order of judgment described below: 

I
APPELbANI'S NAME·: 
IR#: 2232628 • 
.APPELLANT'S ADDRESS: 
;APPELLANT'S ATTORNEY: 
ADDRESS: 
OFFENSE: 
JUDGMENT: 
DA TE OF JUDGEMENT: 
SENTENCING DATE: 
SENTENCE: 

SIDNEY BUTLER 
DOB: 9/26/95 
IDOC 
State Appellate Defender 
203 N. LaSalle, 24th FL. Chicago, IL 60601 
PRED CSA, AGG CSA, AGG CS ABUSE 
Guilty 
3/8/19 
9/13/21 

~c I years IDOC • 

AP LANT/APPELLANT'S 
AJJORNEY 

VERIFIED PETITION FOR REPORT OF PROCEEDINGS 
COMMON LAW RECORD AND FOR APPOINTMENT OF COUNSEL ON APPEAL 

Under Supreme Court Rules 605-608, appellant asks the Court to order the Official Court Reporter to 
transcribe an original ·and copy of the proceedings, file the original with the Clerk and deliver a copy to 

. the appellant; order the Clerk to prepare the Record on Appeal and to Appoint Counsel on App~I.. 
: Appellant, being duly sworn, says that at the time of his conviction he was and is unable to pay for the 
1 Record or an appeal lawyer. • • 

ORDER 

; IT IS ORIIBR:Eil the State Appettate .Defender be-appointed as-,counsel on appeal and the Record and 
[ Report of Proceedings be furnished appellant without cost, within 45 days of receipt of this Order. 

Dates to be transcribed: 

TRIAL DATE(S): 3/5,6,7,8/21 
SENTENCING DATE(S): 9/13/21 
115-l0MOTIONDATE: 1/24/17, MOTIONF 

C 449 
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2024 ILApp (1st) 211175-U 

No. 1-21-1175 

Filed July 18, 2024 

Fourth Division 

NOTICE: This order was filed under Supreme Court Rule 23 and is not precedent except in the 
limited circumstances allowed under Rule 23(e)(l). 

INTHE 

APPELLATE COURT OF ILLINOIS 

FIRST DISTRICT 

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF ILLINOIS, 

Plaintiff-Appellee, 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

V. 

SIDNEY BUTLER, 

Defendant-Appellant. 

JUSTICE MARTIN delivered the judgment of the court. 

Appeal from the 
Circuit Court of 
Cook County. 

No. 15 CR 9154 

Honorable 
Alfredo Maldonado, 
Judge, presiding. 

Presiding Justice Rochford and Justice Ocasio concurred in the judgment. 

ORDER 

Held: (1) Child victim's out-of-court statements in recorded interview were 
admissible when child victim testified at trial and was available for cross 
examination. (2) Failure to request redactions did not amount to ineffective 
assistance of counsel when defendant expressly consented to have the jury view 
the full interview. (3) Trial court was not required to give instruction on 
defendant's pretrial statements sua sponte. (4) Prosecutor's remarks in closing 
arguments did not deprive defendant of a fair trial. 

Sidney Butler was charged by indictment with two counts of predatory criminal sexual 

assault, two counts of aggravated criminal sexual assault, and three counts of aggravated criminal 

sexual abuse. Each charge alleged that the crimes were perpetrated against Butler's younger sister, 
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K.P., when she was under the age of 13. A jury found Butler guilty on all seven counts and he was 

sentenced to an aggregate term of21 years' imprisonment. Butler appeals, claiming that (1) K.P.'s 

out-of-court interview was improperly admitted into evidence when her trial testimony was not 

accusatory, (2) trial counsel was ineffective for failing to request that certain portions of the video 

interview not be published to the jury, (3) the trial court should have instructed the jury on how to 

consider evidence of Butler's pretrial statements, and (4) the prosecutor made improper remarks 

in closing argument, depriving him of a fair trial. For the reasons that follow, we affirm. 1 

I. BACKGROUND 

A. Pre-trial Matters 

Before trial, the State requested a hearing, pursuant to section 115-10 of the Code of 

Criminal Procedure of 1963 (725 ILCS 5/115-lO(b)(l) (West 2016)), on the admissibility of a 

video recorded victim sensitive interview (VSI). At the hearing, forensic interviewer Ali Alstott 

testified that she interviewed K.P. one-on-one at the Chicago Children's Advocacy Center (CAC) 

on November 10, 2014. After reciting her credentials, Alstott explained that she followed a 

protocol for the interview that uses open-ended, non-suggestive questioning. Alstott did not review 

any police reports or other information regarding K.P. 's case before the interview. 

A recording of the interview was played at the hearing. K.P. stated that she was age nine 

and she lived with her mother, sister, and brother. Her father, Roland, stays at their house. K.P. said 

her dad is "mean" and "always hits me." K.P. went on to discuss the latest occasion when her dad 

hit her. She explained that he was angry because her little sister told him K.P. had ''touched on 

[her] little sisters." When confronted by him, K.P. told her dad that her brothers and cousin had 

been "touching on" her. Alstott asked K.P. who had been "touching on" her. K.P. identified her 

11n adherence with the requirements of Illinois Supreme Court Rule 352(a) (eff. July 1, 2018), this 
appeal has been resolved without oral argument upon the entry of a separate written order. 

-2-
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cousin, Matthew, brothers, Kevon and Sidney, and her mom's "old boyfriend," Tyree. K.P. 

explained that she had not told anyone before because her brothers told her to "be quiet about it." 

K.P. stated that Sidney began "doing stuff'' to her when she was four years old on occasions 

when her parents were not home. When asked to specify, K.P. said he "pulled his private part out 

of his clothes," made her "suck his private part," pulled her "panties down," and put his "private 

part" in her "butt." K.P. stated that she and Sidney were both standing when she sucked on his 

private part. K.P. then said she was "like this" when Sidney put his private part in her butt, 

demonstrating by bending her torso forward. She also demonstrated Sidney's action by thrusting 

her pelvis. She explained that Sidney put his "private part" in the "line" but not the "hole," and it 

hurt. Sidney made K.P. "pinky promise" not to tell anyone. K.P. said Sidney did these things to her 

"more than five times" and as recently as 2013, before he moved out of her home. She went on to 

describe an incident when she was age five. Sidney tried to make her "suck his private part and 

[she] didn't want to." Sidney placed his right hand behind her head and pushed her head back and 

forth. K.P. 's sister pulled her away. K.P. ran to a bathroom and feigned sickness to deter Sidney 

from entering. K.P. described in detail other instances when her cousin and other brother did 

similar things to her. 

Later, K.P. relayed that her father is violent toward others in her home. Specifically, he has 

hit and thrown items at her mom, "slammed" her brother into a wall, and hit her little sisters, 

turning their skin red. On the most recent occasion, K.P. 's mom tried to intervene when Roland 

was beating K.P., but he pushed her mom and threw her mom into a wall. 

At the conclusion of the interview, Alstott asked K.P. if she knew the difference between 

the truth and a lie. K.P. replied that the truth is when "you tell what really happened" and a lie is 

when "you don't tell what really happened, you tell a different story." K.P. confirmed that 

- 3 -
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everything she had talked about was the truth and no one had told her what to say or not say. K.P. 

also confirmed that no one had spoken with her about being interviewed at the CAC beforehand. 

She was only told that she was "going to walk to another building." 

,r 10 Butler submitted a handwritten statement from K.P. 's father, Roland, which he had given 

to police on December 30, 2014. In the statement, Roland explains that K.P. is his daughter with 

K.P. 's mother, T.P., and he has three other children with a different mother, including a daughter, 

R.P. Roland had been living with T.P. and her four children, which included K.P., another daughter, 

and T.P.'s two sons, Kevon and Sidney. On November 5, 2014, Roland received a call from R.P.'s 

mother, informing him that R.P. said, "smell my breath it smells like [K.P.]'s tutu." Roland went 

to T.P. 's home and confronted K.P. about "what she had been doing to his little kids." T.P. screamed 

and smacked K.P. when she stood silent. K.P. then admitted she had been "making her sisters eat 

her stuff' and said she "deserved to die." Roland told T.P. he was going to give K.P. a ''whooping" 

and began whipping her with his belt. T.P. began whipping K.P. with an orange extension cord. 

Throughout the "whooping," K.P. turned, twisted, and screamed, "I deserve to die." The next day, 

K.P. was "welted up pretty good." She was kept home from school as her parents wanted to conceal 

her welts. 

,r 11 The State argued that the VSI exhibited sufficient safeguards of reliability to be admissible 

under section 115-10. The State noted that K.P. gave detailed descriptions of her abusers' genitals 

and of sexual conduct beyond the knowledge of a normal nine-year-old. In addition, she gave 

specific and unique details of different incidents involving different abusers. Butler's counsel 

argued that K.P. 's statements were coerced by the "vicious beating" she endured a few days before 

the VSI, and it was not sufficiently reliable to justify its admission. 

-4-
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,r 12 The court found that the VSI provided sufficient safeguards of reliability and would be 

admissible at trial if K.P. testifies. The court observed that K.P. had not been forced to "give up" 

or accuse Butler. Rather, K.P.'s outcry was "a tangent out of the original family incident." 

,r 13 The State later informed the court that it intended to introduce the entirety ofK.P.'s VSI at 

trial, which included discussion of collateral matters, such as K.P. 's admission to sexual conduct 

with her younger siblings. Defense counsel indicated that Butler wanted the VSI played in full. 

Butler confirmed his agreement when asked directly by the court. 

,r 14 Additionally, the State indicated that it planned to introduce evidence of Butler's statements 

to detectives admitting that he was K.P. 's brother and had babysat her. Defense counsel objected 

based on the rule of completeness. He argued that the statements should not be admitted unless 

Butler's other statements in the same interview denying he assaulted or abused K.P. were also 

admitted. The court overruled the objection, reasoning that the rule of completeness pertains to 

distinct topics, not an entire interview. 

,r 15 B. Trial 

,r 16 K.P. was the first witness called. She testified that she was 13 years old and in the seventh 

grade. 2 The prosecutor began asking K.P. about her family. K.P. nodded her head in response to a 

few questions and then became unresponsive. The prosecutor asked K.P. whether she understood 

the questions or was refusing to answer. K.P. gave no response. The jury was excused from the 

courtroom. The parties agreed that K.P. was refusing to answer questions. The prosecutor 

explained, "I didn't really know what to anticipate in this case. I haven't had the opportunity to 

speak with her. Her mother would not let me speak with her." The parties agreed to recall K.P. after 

another witness testified. 

2The trial took place in March 2019. 

- 5 -
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,r 17 Chicago Police Detective Ian Barclay testified that he met K.P. 's grandmother on 

November 10, 2014, when she brought K.P. to the CAC. Detective Barclay learned that K.P. was 

born in 2005 and was nine years old at that time. Ali Alstott, a forensic interviewer, met with K.P. 

in a "pod," which consists of an interview room equipped with recording devices and an 

observation room. Persons in the observation room can see the interview room through one-way 

glass, but not vice-versa. Detective Barclay identified a DVD as a recording of K.P. 's interview. 

Detective Barclay interviewed Butler in May 2015. In the interview, Butler admitted that K.P. was 

his sister and that he used to babysit her. 

,r 18 The State recalled K.P. She testified that she lived with her mom and has a sister and two 

brothers, including Butler. When she was age nine, they lived at 932 Latrobe Avenue in Chicago. 

K.P. was initially unresponsive when asked whether Butler babysat her before answering, "I don't 

know." The prosecutor began asking K.P. questions regarding whether Butler had done anything 

to her. K.P. either nodded her head or gave no response. 

,r 19 The court again excused the jury. The State informed the court that K.P. 's mother was 

standing and waving while K.P. was on the stand and requested that she be barred from the 

courtroom. The court stated that it had not observed K.P. 's mother due to a screen obstructing its 

view of the gallery. The court summoned K.P. 's mother to come forward and admonished her not 

to make signals to witnesses. The court admonished K.P. that she had to give verbal responses. 

,r 20 K.P. 's testimony resumed before the jury. She lived at 932 Latrobe with her mother, 

siblings, and Roland Pierce in 2014. K.P. identified Butler in court as her brother. When asked 

whether Butler did anything to her, K.P. answered, "No, I don't remember." She identified herself 

at age nine in a screenshot from the VSI and agreed she was interviewed by a woman in November 

2014. K.P. answered that she did not remember what she talked about, but she was interviewed 

- 6 -
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due to "household issues" she was having with Roland. Roland hurt her and she went to a hospital 

before the interview. In the interview, K.P. talked about ''what happened with Roland Pierce." She 

agreed that she also mentioned Butler as a person who had "done something" to her. K.P. stated 

that she did not remember Butler doing anything to her when they lived on Latrobe and only 

remembers "bringing up his name" in the interview. The prosecutor read several questions and 

answers from a transcript of the VSI in which K.P. described sex acts Butler performed with her. 

K.P. answered that she did not remember being asked the questions or giving the answers. 

, 21 On cross examination, K.P. testified that her mother picked her up from school one day in 

November 2014. Once home, Roland accused K.P. of"doing something with [her] little cousins." 

He whipped her with his belt and an orange extension cord many times. He also struck her with 

Timberland boots, a video game, and spit on her. Roland made K.P. spend the night in the 

basement, where she slept on the floor without a blanket. K.P. had welts and other injuries to her 

arms and legs. The next day, Roland gave K.P. a long sleeve shirt to wear to cover the marks on 

her arms. K.P. spent a second night in the basement. The next day, K.P. 's cousin, Asia, took her to 

Rush Hospital in Oak Park. While there, her injuries were photographed. K.P. identified 13 photos 

taken at that time depicting her injuries. The CAC interview was two days later. K.P. was still in 

pain from the beating at the time of the interview. 

, 22 The State moved to publish K.P. 's VSI interview by playing it for the jury. The defense 

objected, arguing that the State had not established a sufficient foundation and that K.P. had not 

''testified adequately to allow the video to be played." The court overruled the objection and 

allowed the State to publish the video. 

, 23 Alison Alstott testified that she is a licensed clinical social worker employed at the CAC. 

On November 10, 2014, she was assigned to interview K.P., who was nine years old at the time. 

- 7 -
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On cross examination, Alstott testified she was aware before the interview that K.P. was injured 

and she noticed wounds during the interview. 

The State submitted copies ofK.P.'s and Butler's birth certificates, which indicated Butler 

was born in 1995 and K.P. in 2005. 

Butler called his mother, T.P. She testified that on a weekday afternoon in November 2014, 

she, Kevon, K.P., her other daughter, and Roland met in the kitchen of their home. Roland "went 

crazy," striking "everyone" with his belt and extension cords. K.P. received "lash-type injuries" to 

her arms, legs, and torso. Police officers and personnel from the Department of Children and 

Family Services (DCFS) arrived. T.P. 's cousin, Asia, came and picked up her daughters. Asia took 

K.P. to the hospital later that night. 

On cross examination, T.P. explained that Roland had called her before the family meeting 

and stated that "there was something sexual going on." This revelation is what caused Roland to 

go "crazy" and become violent. T.P. denied that K.P. ever made an outcry to her about being 

abused. T.P. further denied that K.P. was made to sleep in the basement and maintained that Asia 

took K.P. from the home the same day as the beating. 

On redirect, T.P. confirmed that Roland asked K.P. to admit to "doing something sexually 

wrong" and wanted to know how she knew "how to do those things." 

In closing arguments, defense counsel contended that K.P. 's VSI was "the product of 

torture" inflicted by Roland. After being confronted about abusing Roland's other daughter, 

suffering beatings, and forced to sleep in the cold basement for days, counsel submitted, K.P. was 

"in her mind*** told to confess on some people." That is, Roland "believed that *** someone had 

shown [K.P.] how" to abuse his other daughter and he wanted to know who. As a result of the 

''torture," K.P. "came up with names," including Butler's. 

- 8 -
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The jury found Butler guilty on all seven counts. Upon Butler's posttrial motion, filed by 

new counsel, the court vacated one count of predatory criminal sexual assault and one count of 

aggravated criminal sexual assault, finding that the evidence was insufficient to prove contact 

between Butler's penis and K.P.'s anus. The court rejected Butler's other claims that the VSI was 

improperly admitted, trial counsel was ineffective for not requesting a limiting instruction on 

Butler's pretrial statements, and certain remarks from the prosecutors in opening and closing 

statements deprived him of a fair trial. 

The court merged three counts of aggravated criminal sexual abuse and sentenced Butler 

to consecutive terms of nine years for predatory criminal sexual abuse, nine years for aggravated 

criminal sexual assault, and three years for aggravated criminal sexual abuse for a total prison term 

of 21 years. Butler filed a timely notice of appeal. 

IL ANALYSIS 

A. Admissibility of Out-of-Court Statements 

Butler first argues that K.P. 's VSI was erroneously admitted into evidence. He claims both 

that the interview did not meet the conditions for admission under section 115-10 and that its 

admission violated his constitutional right to confront witnesses. He contends that K.P. did not 

''testify" for purposes of both section 115-10 and the sixth amendment's confrontation clause 

because she gave no testimony accusing Butler of anything. Instead, she said she did not remember 

him doing anything to her, only recalled bringing his name up during her interview, and denied 

remembering any of the questions and answers of the interview. 

We review the trial court's ruling on the admissibility of a statement under section 115-10 

for an abuse of discretion, but whether a defendant was deprived of their constitutional right to 

- 9 -
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confront witnesses is a question oflaw that we review de novo. People v. Dabney, 2017 IL App 

(3d) 140915, ,r 17. 

,r 35 For a minor victim's out-of-court statement to be admissible at trial, the statement must 

comply with both the requirements of section 115-10 and the confrontation clause. People v. Kitch, 

239 Ill. 2d 452, 469-70 (2011 ). "The confrontation clause guarantees a criminal defendant the right 

to confront the witnesses against him or her." Dabney, 2017 IL App (3d) 140915, ,r 18; U.S. Const., 

amend. VI; Ill. Const. 1970, art. I,§ 8. Section 115-10 provides that in a prosecution for a sexual 

act perpetrated against a child under the age of 13, certain out-of-court statements made by the 

child victim may be admitted as substantive evidence at trial as an exception to the hearsay rule. 

Such statements are admissible so long as ( 1) the trial court conducts a hearing outside the presence 

of the jury to determine the reliability of the statements, and (2) the victim testifies at trial or is 

unavailable but evidence corroborating the statement is presented. People v. Riggs, 2019 IL App 

(2d) 160991, ,r 26; 725 ILCS 5/115-lO(a), (b)(2) (West 2018). 

,r 36 Butler argues that K.P.'s trial testimony failed to satisfy the statute's condition for 

admissibility. Specifically, he contends that K.P. 's testimony lacked any accusation against him, 

rendering her unavailable for cross examination on the allegations underlying the charges he faced. 

For this proposition, Butler relies on the Second District's decision in People v. Learn, 396 Ill. 

App. 3d 891 (2009). 

,r 3 7 In Learn, a five-year-old victim only answered a few basic questions on direct examination 

about her family. Id. at 896. It took several questions for her to acknowledge that her uncle, the 

defendant, even existed. Id. She said she did not like him but could not say why. Id. The victim 

also said she did not remember the occasion when she told her father that the defendant had abused 

her. Id. She acknowledged going to a police station but said she did not answer any questions. Id. 
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The victim then began crying on the stand. Id. After a break, defense counsel only asked the victim 

five questions about the defendant. Id. at 897. She answered "I don't know" to most questions and 

"no" to whether she had ever told her dad anything about the defendant. Id. 

,r 38 The trial court found that the victim had testified and then allowed the victim's father and 

two police officers to each testify to the victim's out-of-court statements describing the defendant 

sexually abusing her. Id. at 896-97. The appellate court found that admission of their testimony as 

substantive evidence was error. Id. The court reasoned that the victim did not testify for purposes 

of section 115-10 or the confrontation clause since she "did not testify at all about the charge in 

this case and barely acknowledged the people and places about which she was questioned. She did 

not 'bear testimony' against defendant. She neither made accusations nor gave relevant and 

material testimony." Id. at 900. The court stated "[i]f the child is the only witness (other than 

hearsay reporters) who can accuse the defendant of actions constituting the charged offense, the 

child must testify and accuse if she is to be considered to have testified at the proceeding." 

(Emphasis in original.) Id. Thus, the Learn court interpreted section 115-10 and the confrontation 

clause to require that a witness give accusatory, incriminating testimony against the defendant to 

admit evidence of their out-of-court statements. 

,r 39 Here, Butler similarly argues that K.P. 's testimony was not accusatory and therefore, 

following Learn, the trial court erroneously admitted her out-of-court statements. We disagree and 

find that K.P. testified at trial for purposes of section 115-10. We agree with the Fifth District's 

observation that Learn does not reflect the current state of Illinois law on this issue. People v. 

Graves, 2021 IL App (5th) 200104, ,r 41. Learn is alone in holding that a victim must testify and 

accuse the defendant of the charged conduct to satisfy the testimony requirement of section 115-10. 

Since Learn was decided 15 years ago, no court has cited it approvingly, the decision has received 
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extensive negative treatment, and the Second District has distanced itself from it. See id. ,r 39 

(collecting cases). We likewise decline to follow Learn. 

,r 40 Instead, we join the majority of Illinois courts and find that the testimony requirement of 

section 115-10 requires no more than the witness's availability for cross examination-the same 

requirement to satisfy the confrontation clause. Id. ,r 41. So long as a witness appears for cross 

examination, the confrontation clause does not require that a witness testify to the substance of 

their out-of-court statements for those statements to be admissible. Id. ,r 43 ( citing People v. Smith, 

2019 IL App (3d) 160631, ,r 31 (quoting People v. Garcia-Cordoba, 2011 ILApp (2d) 070550-B, 

,r 66)). A witness will be found to have been available for cross examination if the witness was 

present in court and answered all the questions asked of them by defense counsel. Dabney, 2017 

ILApp (3d) 140915, ,r 19. 

,r 41 Here, the record demonstrates that K.P. appeared for cross examination. During direct 

examination, K.P. was initially reluctant or unwilling to answer questions. The majority of her 

responses were head nods, or she gave no response at all. After breaks and being admonished by 

the court, K.P. began giving verbal responses. Yet, for most of the salient questions, she responded 

that she did not remember. In contrast, no reluctance was apparent during her cross examination. 

She gave meaningful responses to all of defense counsel's questions, including many that pertained 

to being physically abused, albeit by Roland, not Butler. Indeed, K.P. 's testimony on cross 

examination aligned with Butler's theory of the case. By eliciting K.P. 's testimony about being 

beaten and mistreated by Roland, counsel supported his contention that she was untruthful during 

the VSI and thereby challenged K.P. 's out-of-court statements. It is of no moment that defense 

counsel did not inquire directly about K.P. 's VSI statements accusing Butler of abuse. The 

opportunity for cross examination satisfies the appearance requirement, irrespective of how the 
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defendant chooses to cross examine the witness. Graves, 2021 IL App (5th) 200104, 145. We also 

observe that nothing prevented counsel from inquiring about K.P. 's VSI statements. Id. ( observing 

defense counsel could have questioned child victim about out-of-court allegations even though 

victim did not testify to the charged conduct). Id. 

1 42 For these reasons, we conclude that K.P. 's testimony satisfied section 115-10 to make her 

out-of-court interview admissible. Thus, the trial court did not abuse its discretion by admitting 

the VSI. In addition, Butler's confrontation rights were not violated since K.P. was available for 

cross examination. Accordingly, admission of the VSI complied both with section 115-10 and the 

confrontation clause. Having found that the VSI was admissible under section 115-10, we need 

not address the parties' contentions regarding whether the VSI was admissible under section 

115-10.1 (730 ILCS 5/115-10.1 (West 2018)) as a prior inconsistent statement.3 

1 43 B. Ineffective Assistance 

1 44 Butler next argues that his trial counsel was ineffective for failing to request that the jury 

not view portions of K.P. 's interview in which she discussed bad acts committed by other people. 

Specifically, he contends portions related to Roland beating K.P., sexual abuse by her cousin and 

other brother, and K.P. 's admissions to abusing her sisters should have been excluded. Statements 

on those topics were outside the scope of section 115-10, he contends, and enabled the jury to 

convict him based on suffering inflicted on K.P. by others. 

1 45 The State responds that Butler cannot complain about the interview being played in its 

entirety since he expressly consented to this strategy. We agree. Illinois courts have repeatedly held 

"[w]here a defendant knowingly and intelligently consents to defense counsel 's strategy, he 

3See People v. Vannote, 2012 IL App (4th) 100798, ,i 26 (finding a child victim's out-of-court 
statements were admissible as prior inconsistent statements when victim claimed not to remember anything 
at trial). 
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normally cannot claim ineffective assistance of counsel for the actions of defense counsel in 

furtherance of that strategy." (Internal quotation marks omitted.) People v. Bell, 2021 IL App (1st) 

190366, ,r 107. Here, defense counsel stated expressly that it was Butler's wish that the jury see 

the entire interview. Butler confirmed so when asked by the court directly. On appeal, he offers no 

basis to find that he did not knowingly or intelligently consent to this strategy. 

,r 46 In addition, when reviewing a claim of ineffective assistance, courts are to indulge a strong 

presumption that the challenged action or inaction was the product of sound trial strategy. People 

v. Wilkerson, 2016 IL App (1st) 151913, ,r 46. The record supports that having the jury view the 

interview in full was consistent with the defense's strategy. Defense counsel argued that K.P. 

falsely accused Butler in her interview because she had been badly beaten by her father days 

before, when he accused her of abusing his other daughter. To support that theory, defense counsel 

elicited testimony from both K.P. and her mother on these matters. The portions of K.P. 's interview 

giving a consistent account corroborated their testimonies. Thus, having the jury view the 

interview in full was in accord with the defense's strategy. Ultimately, the jury was unconvinced, 

but that alone does not require us to find the strategy unsound. People v. Massey, 2019 IL App 

(1st) 162407, ,r 31. 

,r 47 Further, Butler cannot show a reasonable probability of a different outcome had the jury 

viewed a redacted interview. See People v. Domagala, 2013 IL 113688, ,r 36 ( defendant must show 

he was prejudiced by counsel's performance-a reasonably probability that the result of the 

proceeding would have been different). Butler's claim of prejudice is highly speculative. His claim 

is also undermined by the fact that much of the same information was introduced at trial through 

K.P. 's and T.P. 's testimonies. 

C. Jury Instruction 
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,r 49 Next, Butler argues that the trial court should have instructed the jury regarding evidence 

of his statements. Detective Barclay testified that Butler admitted during questioning that K.P. was 

his sister and he had babysat her. The instruction Butler's believes the court should have given 

reads as follows: 

"You have before you evidence that the defendant made statements relating to the offenses 

charged in the indictment. It is for you to determine whether the defendant made the 

statements, and, if so, what weight should be given to the statements. In determining the 

weight to be given to a statement, you should consider all of the circumstances under which 

it was made." Illinois Pattern Jury Instructions, Criminal, No. 3.06-3.07 (approved Oct. 17, 

2014). 

,r 50 Butler acknowledges that he forfeited this issue since he failed to request that the 

instruction be given or otherwise object to the adequacy of the jury instructions before the trial 

court. He requests that we review the claim under plain error. 

,r 51 "Under the plain error doctrine, a reviewing court may address a forfeited claim in two 

circumstances: '(1) where a clear or obvious error occurred and the evidence is so closely 

balanced that the error alone threatened to tip the scales of justice against the defendant, 

regardless of the seriousness of the error and (2) where a clear or obvious error occurred 

and that error is so serious that it affected the fairness of the defendant's trial and challenged 

the integrity of the judicial process, regardless of the closeness of the evidence.' " People 

v. Hood, 2016 IL 118581, ,r 18 (quoting People v Belknap, 2014 IL 117094, ,r 48). 

We must first determine whether error occurred at all. Id. "[W]ithout error, there can be no plain 

error." Id. 
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,i 52 A trial court generally has no obligation to instruct a jury on its own motion. People v. 

Koen, 2014 IL App (1st) 113082, ,i 46. Rather, "the only situations where a fair trial requires the 

court to sua sponte offer an instruction include seeing that the jury is instructed on the elements of 

the crime charged, on the presumption of innocence and on the question of burden of proof." 

(Internal quotation marks omitted.) People v. Wright, 2017 IL 119561, ,i 88. When an instruction 

involves none of those issues, a court's failure to sua sponte tender it is not error. People v. 

Franklin, 135 Ill . 2d 78, 103 (1990); People v. Turner, 128 Ill. 2d 540, 562-63 (1989). The 

instruction Butler argues the court should have given does not bear on the essential issues of "the 

elements of the crime charged, on the presumption of innocence and on the question of burden of 

proof." Therefore, there was no error and Butler cannot demonstrate plain error. 

,i 53 Alternatively, Butler claims that trial counsel's failure to request the instruction amounts to 

ineffective assistance. To prevail on a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, a defendant must 

demonstrate both that (1) counsel's performance was deficient and (2) the deficient performance 

prejudiced the defendant. Domagala, 2013 IL 113688, ,i 36. If the defendant suffered no prejudice, 

we need not consider whether counsel's performance was deficient. People v. Griffin, 178 Ill. 2d 

65, 7 4 (1997). Prejudice is shown when there is a reasonable probability, but for counsel's deficient 

performance, the result of the proceeding would have been different. Domagala, 2013 IL 113688, 

,i 36. 

,i 54 Here, we cannot conclude that Butler was prejudiced by the failure to request the jury 

instruction regarding his pretrial statements. The only pretrial statements attributed to Butler were 

admissions that K.P. was his sister and that he babysat her. These admissions were not 

incriminating, and it is unreasonable to believe that instructing the jury to determine whether he 

made them and under what circumstances would have affected their deliberation. To be sure, the 
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admissions were basic, undisputed background information. That Butler and K.P. were siblings 

was uncontestable. Both K.P. and T.P. testified that Butler and K.P. were siblings who resided in 

the same home. Although the State referenced Butler's admission that he babysat K.P., this was far 

from incriminating. From common experience, jurors would expect that older siblings would be 

placed in charge of younger siblings on occasion. 

Further, IPI Criminal 3.06-07 was inapplicable. By its terms, the instruction is relevant 

when there is a question of fact as to whether a defendant made a statement or whether such a 

statement is true. Although evidence of Butler's statements was introduced and the State 

mentioned it in argument, whether he made the statements, and their truth or falsity were not at 

issue in the case. Under these circumstances, we fail to see how the instruction could have made a 

difference. Accordingly, Butler cannot show that he was prejudiced, and his ineffective assistance 

claim necessarily fails. 

D. Closing Arguments 

Lastly, Butler argues that he was deprived of a fair trial by prosecutorial misconduct in 

closing arguments. He claims various comments were improper and each comment prejudiced 

him, or prejudice resulted from their cumulative effect. Specifically, Bulter contends: (1) the State 

improperly bolstered the credibility of K.P. 's VSI statements by vouching for Alstott's ability as 

an interviewer, (2) the prosecutor misstated the law by telling the jury that K.P. 's VSI was ''just as 

if that 9-year-old girl was up on the witness stand, and Ali Alstott was the lawyer asking her 

questions," (3) the prosecutor improperly blamed Bulter for the beating she suffered from her 

father, ( 4) the prosecutor improperly referenced abuse of K.P. committed by others so as to suggest 

Butler's guilt by association, and (5) certain comments were unduly inflammatory, including 
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calling Butler "Mr. Despicable" and saying that he "taught a little girl how to suck his private part 

and how to bend over furniture and take it in the rear end." 

,r 58 Butler included the claimed improper remarks in his motion for new trial. However, he 

objected to none of them at trial. To preserve an issue for appeal, a defendant must both make a 

contemporaneous objection at trial and raise the specific issue in a posttrial motion. People v. 

Anaya, 2017 IL App (1st) 150074, ,r 81. Butler's failure to object results in forfeiture of this claim. 

Id. In his reply brief, however, he contends the prosecutor's comments amount to plain error under 

the first prong. See supra ,r 49. A defendant's argument for plain error in a reply brief "is sufficient 

to allow us to review the issue for plain error." People v. Ramsey, 239 Ill. 2d 342, 412 (2010). 

Thus, we consider whether a clear or obvious error occurred. 

,r 59 To obtain relief on an unpreserved error under the plain-error doctrine, the same error must 

entitle the defendant to relief ifit had been preserved. People v. Williams, 2022 IL 126918, ,r 49. 

For a prosecutorial comment in closing argument to be reversible error, the comment must be both 

improper and substantially prejudicial. Id. Prosecutors are afforded wide latitude in closing 

argument. People v. Wheeler, 226 Ill. 2d 92, 123 (2007). The prosecutor "may comment on the 

evidence and any reasonable inferences that arise from it, even if those inferences reflect 

negatively on the defendant." Williams, 2022 IL 126918, ,r 44. Prosecutors may also comment on 

matters implicated by defense counsel. Id. We consider the comments in closing argument in 

context of the entire closing argument of both the State and defendant. People v. Ceja, 204 Ill. 2d 

332, 357 (2003). 

,r 60 1. Vouching for K.P. 's credibility 

,r 61 We first consider the prosecutor's remarks regarding Alstott. Butler points to these 

comments: 
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"You didn't hear one leading question out of Ali. Who, what, where, when, why, how. She 

didn't say, 'isn't [it] true that this happened, or this happened;' correct? No. There's an art 

to it. She's trained. Because you're trained to get the truth by asking those questions." 

Butler argues that the prosecutor improperly vouched for Alstott as a good interviewer and, by 

extension, vouched for K.P. 's credibility. 

We do not find the challenged remarks improper. Alstott testified to her qualifications, 

including her education, training, and experience conducting interviews of children regarding 

abuse. She also described using questioning techniques that avoid suggesting answers, including 

using open-ended questions, and her use of those techniques was evident from the video, which 

was played in its entirety. Alstott also testified that she had not reviewed any reports related to K.P. 

or her family before interviewing her. Thus, the prosecutor's suggestion that Alstott was a trained 

interviewer, and her training is designed to yield truthful statements were reasonable inferences 

based on the evidence. 

Further, the prosecutor did not vouch for Alstott ability or K.P. 's credibility. A prosecutor 

improperly vouches for a witness's credibility when they either (1) "convey the impression that 

evidence not presented to the jury, but known to the prosecutor, supports the charges against the 

defendant and can thus jeopardize the defendant's right to be tried solely on the basis of the 

evidence presented to the jury;" or (2) "the prosecutor's opinion carries with it the imprimatur of 

the Government and may induce the jury to trust the Government's judgment rather than its own 

view of the evidence." (Internal quotation marks omitted.) People v. Williams, 2015 IL App (1st) 

1227 45, ,-i 13. Here, the prosecutor neither conveyed an impression that they knew something about 

Alstott's interviewing ability that was not presented in evidence nor suggested that the jury should 

find K.P. 's interview statements credible based on the prosecutor's opinion of Alstott. In addition, 
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the prosecutor made no statement in the form of an opinion, which is generally required for us to 

consider the statement an improper opinion. See People v. Pope, 284 Ill. App. 3d 695, 707 (1996) 

( observing that improper expressions of opinion generally include explicit language such as "I 

believe" or "I think"). 

2. "Just as if' 

Next, Butler complains that the prosecutor misstated the law when discussing K.P.'s VSI 

with the following comment: "It's just as if that 9-year-old girl was up on the witness stand, and 

Ali Alstott was the lawyer asking her questions." Butler contends the comment erroneously 

equated out-of-court testimony, where the declarant is not under oath or subject to cross 

examination, with in-court testimony. 

In context, the prosecutor was explaining that K.P. 's VSI could be considered as substantive 

evidence despite K.P. not testifying consistent with it at trial. The relevant portion of argument was 

as follows: 

"You're also going to get an instruction that starts out talking about the believability 

of witnesses. And part of that instruction*** says: However, you may consider a witness's 

earlier inconsistent statement as evidence without this limitation ***. 

What does that mean?*** that means*** when you watch that forensic interview 

of [K.P.] when she was 9 years old. It's just as if that 9-year-old girl was up on the witness 

stand, and Ali Alstott was the lawyer asking her questions. You can consider that as 

substantive evidence in this case. You can consider that." 

The limitation the prosecutor referred to, which was stated in the jury instructions, is that prior 

inconsistent statements ordinarily may only be considered for the limited purpose of determining 

how much weight to give a witness's in-court testimony. Illinois Pattern Jury Instructions, 
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Criminal, No. 3.11 (IPI 3.11) (approved Oct. 17, 2014). After these statements, the prosecutor went 

on to offer reasons that the jury should believe what K.P. said in the VSI. 

,r 67 Thus, the context demonstrates that the import of the complained of comment was that the 

jury could consider K.P. 's VSI statements as substantive evidence. That was a correct statement of 

law. Id.; 725 ILCS 5/115-110.1 (West 2018). The statement did not equate a prior inconsistent 

statement with in-court testimony in the manner Butler contends. It was not directed at the 

credibility of the VSI statements, as the prosecutor addressed that question separately. In any event, 

the court gave the jury proper instructions on how to evaluate the VSI, which generally cures any 

prejudice resulting from improper remarks. People v. Simms, 192 Ill. 2d 348, 396 (2000). In sum, 

we find no clear or obvious error resulting from the ''just as if' comment. 

,r 68 3. Blaming Butler for Roland Beating K.P. 

,r 69 We next consider Butler's challenge to these remarks: 

"What's more ridiculous is he's the reason she got that beating. She told you on that 

forensic interview, her dad was beating on her because she was touching on her little sisters, 

and her brothers were touching on her. Where did she learn that? Where do little siblings 

learn things? From their parents and from their older siblings, they mimic them, they copy 

them." 

Butler argues the comment blamed him for the beating K.P. received from Roland, making him 

responsible for a separate crime from those charged. 

,r 70 We note that the complained of remarks were made in rebuttal. Defense counsel first 

introduced the theory that Roland beat K.P. because Roland believed that someone had taught K.P. 

to perform sex acts on younger siblings and Roland wanted K.P. to identify that person: 
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"[K.P.] was a prisoner for what she had done; [Roland] wanted to know why she's 

doing this; he believed that if she had done this thing, someone had shown her how to do 

it. And that's why she's doing it. 'And tell me who told you how - [who] showed you how 

to do this?' And she came up with names, including*** Sidney Butler." 

Further, in the VSI, K.P. described being subjected to sexual acts by Butler and others before she 

performed acts on her younger sisters. Thus, it was reasonable for the prosecutor to draw an 

inference that K.P. 's abuse of her younger sisters resulted from the abuse she suffered from Butler. 

For these reasons, we find that the remarks were both invited and a reasonable inference from the 

evidence. 

,r 71 4. Guilt by Association 

,r 72 Similarly, Butler complains about this comment in rebuttal: "[K.P.] was in a perfect storm. 

She was a little ship in a perfect storm, and that perfect storm was [Butler]; his brother; his cousin; 

her father; her mother. That's what she was living." He argues that the prosecutor made him the 

"scapegoat" for the abuse K.P. suffered from other family members and asked the jury to find him 

guilty by association rather than for his own conduct. 

,r 73 Like the prior issue, defense counsel first commented on K.P. being abused. He also argued 

,r 74 

T.P. had contributed to the abuse by failing to act when K.P. was kept in the basement for days 

after Roland had beaten her. Defense counsel asked the jury to credit K.P. 's testimony over T.P. 's 

denials and claim she had taken K.P. to the hospital the same day. Also, the comment was based 

on K.P. 's VSI, which described abuse from multiple family members. Thus, we do not find the 

comment improper. 

5. Inflammatory Remarks 
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,r 75 Last, Butler claims the prosecutor made prejudicial inflammatory remarks by referring to 

him as "Mr. Despicable" and stating, "Instead of teaching [K.P.] how to read and write her AB Cs 

or how to tie her shoes, [Butler] taught [K.P.], a little girl, how to suck his private part and how to 

bend over furniture and take it in the rear end." "[I]nflaming of the jury's passions is not directly 

barred; rather any commentary that does so must also serve a different proper purpose." People v. 

Darr, 2018 IL App (3d) 150562, ,r 71. Argument that serves no purpose but to inflame the jury is 

improper. People v. Blue, 189 Ill. 2d 99, 128 (2000). We address each comment in turn. 

,r 76 We observe that defense counsel first used the word "despicable" when stating, "If you 

find that [Butler] did that beyond a reasonable doubt, by all means find him guilty because people 

that abuse children are despicable." In rebuttal, the prosecutor stated: "the Defendant, through his 

attorney, just got up here and said, 'anybody who would do that is despicable.' Well, ladies and 

gentlemen, let me introduce you to Mr. Despicable here. Because that's what he did, and that's 

what we showed you he did." Accordingly, the "Mr. Despicable" comment was a permissible 

response. 

,r 77 The other comment, by contrast, was made near the beginning of the prosecutor's initial 

argument. Later, the prosecutor recounted portions of the VSI: 

"[K.P.] indicated that [Bulter] told her to suck his private part. She also indicated 

that [Bulter] tried to put his private part into her butt, and it hurt. 

She demonstrates how [Butler's] body was positioned when he tried to put it into 

her butt, and she demonstrates a humping motion. She demonstrates how her body was 

positioned. She turns over and sticks her backside up, and demonstrates how her body is 

bending over furniture." 
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This was an accurate description of the VSI. K.P. described sex acts Butler, her older brother, 

subjected her to beginning when she was age four. She used the words "suck his private part" and 

physically demonstrated by, inter alia, bending forward at the waist. Thus, the earlier comment 

was based on the evidence. 

,r 78 Nevertheless, we fail to see a purpose served by the "take it in the rear end" comment other 

than inflaming the passions and prejudices of the jury. The comment offered no reason as to why 

the evidence proved Butler had committed the charged offenses. Instead, the prosecutor's remarks 

were aimed at generating sympathy for K.P. and outrage at Butler. He emphasized her young age 

and vulnerability by referencing learning to read or tie shoes and the depravity of the charged 

conduct by using the crude phrase "take it in the rear end." 

,r 79 Although we find the comment improper, we do not believe it was so substantial as to 

constitute error. To be sure, the trial evidence was evocative on its own. So, the prosecutor's 

comment was not as shocking as it may seem outside of its context. The jury had already been 

exposed to disturbing material, including the VSI and testimony about K.P. being beaten by 

Roland. Thus, by the time of closing arguments, we do not believe the prosecutor's comment 

caused the jury to act upon inflamed passions instead of the evidence. In addition, the remark was 

brief and isolated among lengthy arguments. See People v. Jackson, 2020 IL 124112, ,r 87 (noting 

that the brief and isolated nature of remarks in context is a factor in assessing the effect on the jury 

verdict). 

,r 80 Having found no reversible error in the closing arguments, we find no plain error. 

,r 81 III. CONCLUSION 

,r 82 Based on the foregoing, we affirm the judgment of the circuit court. 

,r 83 Affirmed. 
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